ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
1. THE BOR AND AU ERRED BY NOT APPLYING RES JUDICATA AND

COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL TO PETITIONER'S CLAIM, WHICH DOCTRINES BAR REEVALUATION OF PETITIONER'S IMPAIRMENTS.
2. THE BOR AND AU ERRED BY NOT CREDITING DR. PADMANABAN'S PTD
EVALUATION, WHICH IS THE MOST RELIABLE AND CREDIBLE OF THE RELEVANT
REPORTS.
3. THE BOR AND AU ERRED BY APPLYING TABLE §85-20-C TO
PETITIONER'S CLAIM BECAUSE IT IS CONTRARY TO WEST VIRGINIA CODE
§23-4-6(I)
4. THE BOR AND AU's EXCLUSION OF PETITIONER'S PRIOR PPD AWARD
FOR CTS FROM PTD CONSIDERATION IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE WEST
VIRGINIA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
Petitioner's occupational injuries are summarized as follows. l On January 12, 1967, Mr.
Turley, while employed as an auditor for the Kroger Company, suffered a fracture of his cervical
spine when an automobile in which he was a passenger, struck a bridge. On February 19, 1968,
the then-Workmen's Compensation Fund ("WCF"), sent Mr. Turley for an IME with Dr. George

lReferences to the Appendix Record are.set forth as "A.R. _ _." Note that not all prior
medical reports and PPD awards are available and included in the Appendix, given the vintage of
Petitioner's prior claims. As to the percentages of such historical awards, Petitioner's counsel is
not aware of any factual dispute between the parties to this appeal.
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Miyakawa, M.D. and upon his examination, recommended ten percent (10%) permanent partial
disability ("PPD") for this injury. On April 24, 1968, the WCF accepted Dr. Miyakawa's
findings and awarded the ten percent (10%) PPD to Mr. TUrley. A.R.,15.
On February 9, 1982, Mr. Turley, while employed with Carbon Fuel Company (U.S. Steel
Mining Corp.), fell down steel steps and broke his right arm. On March 11, 1983, the WCF sent
Mr. Turley for an !ME with Dr. A.A. Abplanalp, M.D. and upon his examination, recommended
eight percent (8%) PPD. On June 7, 1983, the WCF accepted Dr. Abplanalp's findings and
awarded the eight percent (8%) PPD to Mr. Turley. A.R., 16.
On July 1, 1985, Mr. Turley, while employed with U.S. Steel, injured his right ankle
when a power box fell on it. On March 29, 1987, the WCF sent Mr. Turley for an IME with Dr.
James Banks, M.D. and upon his examination, recommended five percent (5%) PPD. On May
29, 1987, the WCF accepted Dr. Banks' findings and awarded the five percent (5%) PPD to Mr.
Turley. A.R., 17.
On July 25, 1996, Mr. Turley, while employed with West Virginia Power, dislocated his
right knee while trying to jump out of the way of an end loader. On October 9, 1997, the then
Workers' Compensation Division ("WCD") sent Mr. Turley for an !ME with Dr. Mario C.
Ramas, M.D. and upon his examination, recommended two percent (2%) PPD. A.R., 18-21. On
November 7, 1997, the WCD accepted Dr. Ramas' findings and awarded the two percent (2%)
PPD to Mr. Turley. A.R., 27.
Petitioner last worked as an electrician with Allegheny Power. On March 1, 2000, Mr.
Turley, while employed with Alleghany Power, was in a motor vehicle accident causing injuries
to his neck, cervical spine, and both hands. On September 30, 2002, the WCD sent Mr. Turley
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for an !ME with Dr. Bruce A. Gubennan, M.D., (discussed in a supplemental report of May 15,
2003), and upon his examination, recommended twenty-five percent (25%) PPD, which Mr.
Turley was awarded by the WCD. A.R.,28-40. Also under the current injury and claim number,

Mr. Turley was sent by the now self-insured employer through Acordia, for an IME with
Licensed Psychologist Stephanie K. Ford. Upon examination, Ms. Ford recommended five
percent (5%) PPD for the psychiatric overlay, which award has been made. A.R., 41-45
Petitioner's prior PPD awards thus total fifty-five percent (55%) PPD (which is 5% over
what was included in his original Motion for a Pennanent Total Disability award). That motion
was amended to reflect the 5% additional PPD which was granted while the PTD claim was
pending. The PTD Examining Board in its Final Recommendations, "revised" Petitioner's 55%
cumulative PPD to a WPI calculation of27%, A.R., 83-86, using the Combined Values Chart
from the AMA Guides, 4th Edition. The PTD Examining Board's Final Recommendations
entered in August 18, 2008 were based on the PTD evaluation by Dr. Joseph Grady, A.R., 46-59,
and the psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Bobby Miller, A.R. 87-98. Subsequently, Petitioner
submitted a PTD evaluation by Dr. Ramanathan Padmanaban, M.D., A.R., 60-82, dated May 11,
2010, which concluded that Petitioner has a 47% Combined Value WPI, excluding his carpal
tunnel syndrome ("CTS"), for which Petitioner has received the maximum allowable award of
12% WPI. Including Petitioner's CTS and again applying the Combined Values Chart from the
AMA Guides, 4th Edition, Petitioner has a 52% WPI, which contrary to the ALJIBOR's
conclusion, clearly qualifies him for PTD consideration.
In its Closing Argument before the AU below, the Employer made several misstatements
worthy of brief mention here. The 1967 neck "injury" was, as discussed herein, a fracture which
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required several weeks' hospitalization and Mr. Turley continuouslywbre a body frame with
neck brace with halo for some six months. Mr. Turley's camper injury involved a fall into the
camper's metal instep after his compensable right knee gave out, resulting in fractured ribs and a
punctured right lung. He subsequently required lung surgery at UVA. Dr. Grady opined in 2007
that Mr. Turley would require no further surgeries, however he had a total right knee
replacement, with followup arthroscopic surgery, only months thereafter. While this claim has
been pending, Mr. Turley's wife left him and his income is limited to Social Security benefits of
$1565 per month and $557 from an essentially involuntary early retirement. Contrary to the
Employer's contention below, the most significant and debilitating injuries Mr. Turley suffers
from are his compensable neck, knee, and ankle injuries.

STANDARD OF REVIEW
W.Va. Code §23-5-15 governs this Court's review of the decisions below. That statute
provides in pertinent part:

(b) In reviewing a decision of the board of review, the Supreme Court of Appeals
shall consider the record provided by the board and give deference to the board's
findings, reasoning and conclusions, in accordance with subsections (c) and (d) of
this section.
(c) If the decision of the board represents an affirmation of a prior ruling by both
the commission and the office ofjudges that was entered on the same.issue in the
same claim, the decision of the board may be reversed or modified by the
Supreme Court of Appeals only if the decision is in clear violation of
constitutional or statutory provision, is clearly the result of erroneous conclusions
oflaw, or is based upon the board's material misstatement or mischaracterization
of particular components of the evidentiary record. The court may not conduct a
de novo re-weighing of the evidentiary record. If the court reverses or modifies a
decision of the board pursuant to this subsection, it shall state with specificity the
basis for the reversal or modification and the manner in which the decision of the
board clearly violated constitutional or statutory provisions, resulted from
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erroneous conclusions oflaw, or was based upon the board's material