I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This claim relates to an application for permanent total disability benefits filed by the claimant. An order was entered by the self-insured claims administrator on September 5, 2008, denying the claimant's application for benefits finding that the claimant had not met the threshold for pursuing a permanent total disability award. The claimant protested that ruling and after litigation, a final order was entered by the administrative law judge on January 10, 2011, affirming the September 5, 2008 ruling.

Thereafter, the claimant filed an appeal to the Board of Review and by final order of August 25, 2011, the Board of Review affirmed the Office of Judges' order of January 10, 2011. This proceeding is a petition for review by the claimant from the Board of Review's final order of August 25, 2011.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This claim relates to an application for permanent total disability benefits filed by the claimant based upon a variety of workers' compensation claims filed during the course of his lifetime. In particular, the claimant filed Claim No. 670025941, which related to a neck injury for which he was hospitalized three to four weeks after being involved in a motor vehicle accident.

The claimant also filed Claim No. 820045395 with regard to an injury on February 11, 1982, involving a fracture of the radius and ulna of his right arm. The claimant was off work for approximately twelve weeks for that injury and later returned to work as an electrician.

The claimant's next claim was Claim No. 860000626 and was related to a July 1, 1985 right ankle injury. The claimant had surgery by Dr. Fathy in that claim for a tear of the collateral ligament and was off work for approximately twelve weeks.

Thereafter, the claimant filed Claim No. 970017820 with regard to his July 25, 1996 injury to his right knee. The claimant had arthroscopic surgery in his right knee following that injury and after physical therapy, was off work for several weeks. Eventually the claimant was required to undergo a total unilateral meniscectomy.

Finally, the claimant filed Claim No. 2000049165 for injuries sustained in a motor vehicle accident on March 1, 2000. At that time, the claimant sustained injuries to a pre-existing degenerative condition in his neck. He continued to have neck pain after the injury and as a result of diagnostic testing, it was determined that he was suffering from bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome. The claimant eventually had surgical release in both wrists.

Thereafter, on January 3, 2005, the claimant filed an application for permanent total disability benefits citing the above five claims and noting that he was 57 years of age when he began receiving social security disability benefits and having retired on December 7, 2001. On his application for benefits, the claimant reported having received an 8% permanent partial disability award for his low back injury sustained on February 9, 1982, in Claim No. 82-45395. The claimant also reported a 4% permanent partial disability award for a right arm injury in 1985, a 5% award for a leg conclusion on July 1, 1985, a 2% permanent partial disability award for his right knee for an injury in 1998, and a 10% permanent partial disability award as a result of a , the claimant reported having received an 8% permanent partial disability award for his low back injury sustained on February 9, 1982, in Claim No. 82-45395. The claimant also reported a 4% permanent partial disability award for a right arm injury in 1985, a 5% award for a leg conclusion on July 1, 1985, a 2% permanent partial disability award for his right knee for an injury in 1998, and a 10% permanent partial disability award as a result of a C5 fracture in 1966. The claimant's application for permanent total disability benefits also noted a number of non-compensable conditions subsequent to the filing to his latest workers' compensation claim, including stress, receiving death threats, crying, having tremors, and slipping on ice in 2001, injuring his left shoulder and neck. The claimant also cited severe neck pain from a motorcycle accident on March 11, 2002, during which he struck a tree to avoid hitting a deer.

In support of his petition for permanent total disability benefits, counsel for the claimant submitted into the record a copy of an order from the Workers' Compensation Division dated August 20, 2003, granting the claimant a 25% permanent partial disability award in Claim No. 2000049165. The claimant was also granted a 2% permanent partial disability award on November 7, 1997, in Claim No. 97-17820, a 5% permanent partial disability award on May 29,

1987, in Claim No. 86-60264 and an 8% permanent partial disability award on June 7, 1983 in Claim No. 82-45295 and a 10% award of benefits entered on April 24, 1968, in Claim No. 67-25941. Evidence was offered indicating the claimant was granted full social security benefits on March 15, 2005, and lastly, a 5% psychiatric permanent partial disability award in Claim No. 2000049165, by order of May 12, 2005.

When the application for benefits was filed, the claimant underwent an independent medical evaluation regarding his permanent total disability petition on March 7, 2007, by Dr. Joseph E. Grady. Dr. Grady diagnosed chronic neck pain with a history of 50% compression fracture of the C5 vertebrae and the later development of multi-level degenerative changes; a healed fracture of the right radius ulnar; a history of a right ankle surgery for collateral ligament tear with residual right ankle pain; history of right knee surgery with reported excision of the medial lateral menisci; history of a surgical sprain superimposed upon previous cervical fracture and degenerative changes from an earlier injury and a history of bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome with surgery. Based upon his evaluation, Dr. Grady assigned 1% wholeman impairment for each wrist for the carpal tunnel syndrome; a 15% wholeman impairment for the rating of the claimant's cervical spine and an 8% rating for his right lower extremity. Dr. Grady found no permanent impairment with regard to the claimant's complaints of abdominal wall hernia but did recommend a 1% impairment for the whole person for the claimant's right elbow injury. Dr. Grady's cumulative impairment for compensable conditions was 23% wholeman impairment.

Additionally, the claimant underwent a psychiatric evaluation by Dr. Bobby Miller on March 14, 2007 in relation to his petition for permanent total disability benefits. Dr. Miller noted a history of eleven prior workers' compensation claims which the claimant received

a total of 55% permanent partial disability. Based upon his evaluation, Dr. Miller diagnosed Dysthymic Disorder and concluded that the claimant's overall psychiatric impairment fell into the slight range. Dr. Miller recommended a total wholeman psychiatric impairment of 4%.

On June 16, 2008, the Permanent Total Disability Reviewing Body reviewed the claimant's application for permanent total disability benefits. In its final recommendations of August 18, 2008, the Reviewing Body recommended that the application be denied since the claimant had no more than a combined value of 27% whole person impairment and therefore, did not meet the required statutory threshold of 50% whole body impairment. Based on the recommendations of the Permanent Total Disability Reviewing Body, a final order was entered on September 5, 2008, denying the claimant's request for a permanent total disability award, finding that the claimant did not meet the required statutory threshold. The claimant protested that ruling.

In support of his protest, the claimant offered into evidence the May 11, 2010 report of Dr. Ramanathan Padmanaban. Dr. Padmanaban opined that the claimant had 18% whole person impairment for the cervical spine, 4% for his right forearm, 5% for his right ankle, 20% for the right knee and 5% for psychiatric impairment for a total of 47% under the Combined Values Chart of the *AMA Guides*. Dr. Padmanaban further opined that if 12% was added for the claimant's carpal tunnel syndrome, the combined value would have the claimant at 52% whole person impairment.

Thereafter, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. P. B. Mukkamala at the request of the employer. In his report of September 7, 2010, Dr. Mukkamala reported a 15% whole person impairment for the cervical spine, 4% for the claimant's right knee, 4% for the right forearm fracture, for a total of 21% whole person impairment for all compensable injuries. Dr.

Mukkamala further opined that if the claimant's total right knee replacement were compensable, that would equate to an additional 20% whole person impairment and would then raise the combined value of all of the claimant's impairments to 35% whole person impairment.

Thereafter, the claim was submitted for decision and a final order was entered by the administrative law judge on January 10, 2011. In that ruling, the administrative law judge reviewed the evidence of record and concluded that Dr. Padmanaban's estimates of whole person impairment did not conform to the statute nor in some respects to the proper evaluation methods to be utilized in arriving at whole person impairment. On that basis, the administrative law judge found Dr. Padmanaban's evaluation not to be the most reliable estimation of the claimant's impairment as required by the statute. The administrative law judge also reviewed the reports of Drs. Grady and Miller and the report offered by the employer from Dr. Mukkamala. All of those physicians concluded that the claimant's whole person impairment from all compensable conditions, would not have met the required statutory threshold of 50%. The administrative law judge further noted that contrary to arguments advanced by the claimant at the time the claim was submitted for decision, *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-6(n)(4)(A), required that carpal tunnel impairment not be included in the threshold calculation for determining whether or not the claimant met the permanent total disability threshold by statute. On the basis of his evaluation of the evidence, the administrative law judge entered an order on January 10, 2011, affirming the self-insured employer's order of September 5, 2008, which denied the claimant's application for permanent total disability benefits.

Thereafter, the claimant filed an appeal to the Board of Review and by final order of August 25, 2011, the Board of Review affirmed the Office of Judges' order of January 10,

2011. This proceeding is a petition for review by the claimant from the Board of Review's final order of August 25, 2011.

III. ISSUE

WHETHER THE CLAIMANT MET THE BURDEN OF PROOF IMPOSED UPON HIM TO SHOW BY PROPER AND SATISFACTORY EVIDENCE THAT HE MEETS THE REQUIRED THRESHOLD FOR THE GRANTING OF A PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY AWARD?

IV. ARGUMENT

THE CLAIMANT FAILED TO MEET THE BURDEN OF PROOF IMPOSED UPON HIM TO SHOW BY PROPER AND SATISFACTORY EVIDENCE THAT HE MEETS THE REQUIRED THRESHOLD FOR THE GRANTING OF A PERMANENT TOTAL DISABILITY AWARD.

This Honorable Court has consistently held that the burden of establishing a claim for workers' compensation benefits rests upon the person who asserts it. *Clark v. State Workmen's Compensation Commissioner*, 155 W.Va. 726, 187 S.E.2d 213 (1972). The difficulty in administering this burden arises in interpreting the evidence in light of the provisions of *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-1g. That code section provides that the resolution of any issue shall be based on a weighing of all evidence pertaining to the issue and a finding that a preponderance of the evidence supports the manner of resolution. Under those circumstances an issue will not be resolved by allowing certain evidence to be dispositive simply because it is reliable and most favorable to the claimant's interest. Only after weighing the evidence and finding that an equal amount of evidentiary weight exists, will the resolution that is most consistent with the claimant's position be adopted. *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-1g.

To be eligible for consideration of a permanent total disability award in a claim in which the petition for a permanent total disability award was filed after 2003, the claimant must

have been awarded the sum of 50% in prior permanent partial disability awards. Upon filing his application, the claim will then be re-evaluated by the Examining Body to determine if the claimant has suffered a single whole body medical impairment of 50% or more resulting from either a single occupational injury or occupational disease or a combination of occupational injuries and diseases.

Additionally, if the claimant has sustained a 35% statutory disability, then the claimant has met the required statutory threshold for the granting of a permanent total disability award. *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-6(n)(1).

This Court has also consistently held that the evidence when considered as a whole, must be sufficient to “make a reasonable person conclude that the claimant has established his claim.” *Eady v. State Workmen’s Compensation Commissioner*, 148 W.Va. 5, 132 S.E.2d 642 (1963). Furthermore, it must be remembered that the Commissioner is not bound by the conclusions stated in a single physician’s report, but rather must make an independent determination based upon all of the evidence in the claim. *Haines v. State Workmen’s Compensation Commissioner*, 151 W.Va. 152, 150 S.E.2d 883 (1966).

No provision of the workers’ compensation law gives to a physician, whether he be employed by the Commissioner, the claimant, or the employer, the authority to fix the percent of disability. That is the responsibility and duty of the Commissioner and so when evaluating the disability of the claimant, it is incumbent upon them to consider the physical findings of the examining physicians and determining therefrom and from all the other evidence in the case what award, if any, the claimant should receive. *McGeary v. State Workmen’s Compensation Commissioner*, 148 W.Va. 436, 135 S.E.2d 345 (1964).

Additionally, *West Virginia Code* §23-5-15 provides that where the decision of the Board of Review represents an affirmation of a prior ruling by the Office of Judges, that decision may only be reversed or modified by this Honorable Court if the Board of Review's decision is in clear violation of the constitutional or statutory provisions, is clearly the result of erroneous conclusions of law, or is based upon the Board's material misstatement or mischaracterization of particular components of the evidentiary record. This Court may not conduct a *de novo* reweighing of the evidentiary record in such a claim.

Based upon the foregoing principles of law, the employer respectfully submits that the claimant has failed to sustain his proper burden to establish that the administrative law judge committed error in affirming the rejection of the claimant's application for permanent total disability benefits. More particularly, the administrative law judge conducted a thorough review of the evidence of record and reached the appropriate conclusion in determining that the claimant simply does not satisfy the statutory threshold requirement in order to be granted a permanent total disability award. The only physician who examined the claimant that concluded that he has at least 50% whole person impairment from his combined injuries, was Dr. Padmanaban. As was noted by the administrative law judge in his final order, Dr. Padmanaban's evaluation was not the most reliable as he recommended adding an impairment rating for carpal tunnel syndrome which is clearly excluded by the provisions of *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-6(n)(4)(A).

Additionally, while the claimant has raised constitutional issues regarding the exclusion of carpal tunnel impairment, that statute has **not** been determined by this Honorable Court to be unconstitutional and therefore, the exclusion of carpal tunnel impairment is proper under our statute. More specifically, this Honorable Court upheld the constitutionality of *West Virginia Code* § 23-4-6 and ruled that such section does not violate the equal protection clause of

the West Virginia Constitution. *See, Beirne v. Smith*, 214 W.Va. 771, 591 S.E.2d 329, (W. Va. 2003).

Additionally, it is clear from a review of the reports of Drs. Grady, Miller and Mukkamala, the claimant has failed to meet the required statutory threshold in order to be granted a permanent total disability award. For those reasons, the employer respectfully submits that the final order of the Office of Judges was correct, and the Board of Review acted properly in affirming that ruling. For that reason, the employer respectfully submits that the Board of Review's final order of August 25, 2011, and should be affirmed.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the employer respectfully submits that the Board of Review's final order of August 25, 2011, was proper and was in accordance with both the law and the evidence and therefore, should be affirmed.